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De Salis - a Middlesex Family 
by Marjorie Kirby 

The De Salis's came to Middlesex as emigrants in the 
mid-18th century and from then 
until 1920 they lived in various 
houses in the 
Hillingdon/Harlington area and 
many of them are buried, or have 
memorials in Harlington Parish 
Church. 
The Salis nobles, who must have 
been Salian Franks, possessed Salic 
lands in the Bregaglia Valley in the 

Grisons in Switzerland in the 10th century and lived in the 
castle of Catellatz 
Subsequently they adopted a shield of arms (forming in 
heraldic terms) a rebus or allusion to the name - that is a 
willow tree or salix. Today we should call it a canting coat. 
Paly of six Argent and Gules on 
a chief Or a willow tree proper. 
The story begins in 1161 
when Gubertus von Salis was 
elected 5th Grandmaster of 
the Knights of St. John of 
Jerusalem. In 1600 Baptista 
von Salis was made Knight 
of the Golden Spur, a Papal order, and Count Palatine of 
the Palace of Lateran - a hereditary title. Although this 
was a papal title the De Salis family later embraced a 
Protestant form of religion and many members of the 
family have so remained. 

Peter von Salis was Seigneur of the Imperial fief of 
Oberach and envoy from the Grisons to Queen Anne. 
He was made a Count of the Holy Roman Empire by 
Francis I, Emperor of Austria, on 12th March 1746 -
another hereditary title. The title of Count of the Holy 
Roman Empire was conferred on the grantee with the 
remainder to his descendants of both sexes for all time. 
Jerome, his only son, 2nd Count of the Holy Roman 
Empire came to England about 1730 and was 
immediately naturalised by a special Act of Parliament 
and was appointed envoy from England to the Grisons. 
Jerome's arms illustrate his ancestry and honours - the 
shield is divided into four quarters: 1st & 4th - Or an 
eagle displayed Sable (the arms of the Holy Roman 
Empire) 2nd & 3rd - Azure three bends sinister wavy 
Argent a lion rampant and crowned Or brandishing in the 

HOLY ROMAN EMPIRE OBERACH DE S A L I S 

right paw a sword proper hilt gold (Oberach fiefdom) 
over all (in pretence) an inescutcheon per fess bearing the 
De Salis arms. The supporters are dexter - a leopard 
guardant Or & sinister a griffin reguardant Or. 
The motto reads Pro Deo rege et Patria (for God King 
and Country) - rege being added when Jerome settled in 
England, 
Jerome was the first De Salis to buy property in 
Harlington and he married Mary Fane, daughter of 
Charles, 1st Viscount Fane of Ireland whose arms are:-
Azure three dexter gauntlets Or. He was the great-
grandson of Francis, Earl of Westmoreland. Jerome 
died in 1794 and a son, Peter, who succeeded him 
became Lord of Dawley Manor in 1772 and occupied 
the house, Dawley Court. 
Jerome, 4th Count, married three times - firstly, Sophia 
Drake whose father lived at Hillingdon Place, When she 
died at an early age he inherited the house but this was 
in the period of the Napoleonic Wars and French 
sounding names like De Salis aroused suspicion - so 
Jerome applied for, and received, Royal Licence to adopt 
the arms and the name of the Fane, family in addition to 
his own - so they became Fane De Salis. 

Mary Fane was Jerome's 
grandmother and she traced 
her descent from some of 
the most noble and illustrious 
families in the kingdom 
including Despenser, 
Beaufort, Neville and 
Beauchamp. Because 
Jerome was the next 
representative of the second 
and last Viscount Fane he 

was able to show this in his arms. 
And now the achievement of the Fane De Salis family 
became:- Quarterly of six -
1. De Salis 2 Fane 3. Despenser 
4. Beaufort 5. Neville 6. Beauchamp 

mailto:seaxe@tinyworld.co.uk


There are four crests - three for De Salis - an eagle 
displayed, a demi-woman and the fourth for Fane - a 
bull's head. 
On 4th April 1809 Jerome was granted Royal Licence to 
himself and descendants to use the title "Count" in the 
UK. Note the Count's coronet. 
The 5th Count returned to Switzerland to live and 
served in the Swiss Guards. But Rodolf, one of his 
brothers served in the 8th (Royal Irish) Hussars and 
was with them at Balaclava when they took part in the 
Charge of the Light Brigade. 
A sister Henrietta married Colonel Bisse Challoner of 
Portnall Park, Virginia Water - "only a biscuit's toss" from 
Middlesex across the Thames. They had no children so 
the property was left to yet another brother, Henry 
Jerome - and members of the De Salis family lived at 
Portnall Park from 1872 until the house was sold in 
1924. 
The De Salis family have always insisted that their name 
should begin with a capital 'D'. 

+ + + + 

Queen Alexandra's Royal Army Nursing 
Corps 

On 27th March the Queen Alexandra's Royal Army 
Nursing Corps celebrated its Centenary when ail 

members "remembered with pride, 
gratitude and eternal affection all 
comrades who gave their lives in the 
service of their country". 
The badge is described as :- the 
cypher of Queen Alexandra upon the 
Dannebrog, or Danish Cross, the 
whole within a laurel wreath and the 
motto Sub cruce Candida (Under the 

White Cross). All ensigned with the Crown.. 
Queen Alexandra was, of course, the eldest daughter 
of King Kristian IX of Denmark hence the use of the 
Dannebrog, 

Saint Antony of Padua 

Saint Antony (1195-1231) was born in Lisbon and was a 
member of the Order of St Francis. His phenomenal 

knowledge of Holy 
Scripture, as indicated 
by the Book, combined 
with his eloquence, 
earned him the honour 
of being called "the 
eldest son of St 
Francis". The lilies refer 
to his purity, the stems 
to his youth, (he was 
only twenty six when 
he died),. Gold Book, 

silver lilies with green stems, on a brown field. 

A Lion's Resurrections 
by Dr Arnold Rabbow 

In the September 2001 special issue of The Seaxe 
Cynthia Lydiard Cannings reported what Florence of 
Worcester wrote about the fate of the early 
Thuringians at the hands of the sturdy Saxons and 
their seaxes. That event indeed occurred in 531 when 
the Franks and the Saxons conquered the Thuringian 
kingdom. 
However, Thuringia resurfaced after 500 years under a 
new dynasty, not of kings, but of landgraves this time, 
only to disappear again from the map in 1247 following 
the death of the last landgrave. It was then carved up 
into a patchwork of petty states, among them the 
principalities of Schwarzburg and Reuss (both splitting 
up into half a dozen junior branches each), a dozen 
Saxon duchies, of which the best known is the house of 
Saxe-Coburg-Gotha, which still reigns in Britain today 
(albeit under the name of Windsor), with Prussia, 
Saxony and Hesse swallowing up the rest. 
However, after another 700 years, Thuringia as a 
political entity reappeared once again, when the 
remaining duchies and principalities were united in 1920 
to form the Free State of Thuringia, which, however, 
in 1952 was again dissolved, this time by the communist 
regime in the former German Democratic Republic. 
38 years later, after the fall of the totalitarian state in 
East Germany resulting in the reunification of 
Germany, Thuringia rose again from the ashes to 
become one of the 16 Laender (states) of the Federal 
Republic. 

Thuringia's armorial history reflects the repeated rises 
and falls of its territorial existence. Whereas the old 
Thuringian kingdom had, of course, not possessed any 
arms, the landgraves started with a simple lion coat 

(maybe argent on azure) in the 
12th century, but added the 
peculiar white and red stripes 
quite soon (in heraldic blazon: 
azure, a lion barry gules and 
argent; in the beginning the 
number of stripes was not 
fixed). 
The most appealing explanation 
of those stripes is a romantic 

love story involving two saints. In 1211 Elizabeth, four-
year old daughter of the king of Hungary, was 
betrothed to the young landgrave Ludwig IV, aged 
eleven. Legend has it that she brought the red and 
white stripes of the Hungarian arms with her to 
Thuringia. In 1220 the young couple, very much in love 
with each other, married. Elizabeth and Ludwig both 
were very pious. Elizabeth gave away most of her 
worldly belongings to the poor. After her husband had 
died on a crusade in 1227, the new landgrave, Ludwig's 
brother, got tired of Elizabeth's habits. Once he 
surprised Elizabeth when she was on the way to the 
villagers and harshly demanded she uncover her basket 
which as usual contained all sorts of alms. When she 
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obeyed and took away the cloth, the contents had 
miraculously turned into roses! 
Elizabeth, still in mourning for her husband, prayed 
much and ate little and accordingly died in 1231 at the 
age of only 24. Her mortal remains attracted many 
pilgrims and wrought miraculous healings, and in 1235 
she was canonized by the church. Her husband, the 
pious crusader, was proclaimed a saint later. 
Another theory about the origin of the lion's stripes 
favoured by modern heraldists holds that the red and 
white stripes, emblem of the cathedral's chapter in 
Mainz, denote the landgraves' feudal connections with 
the archbishops of Mainz as their earl marshals. 
The striped lion, however, did not disappear with the 
demise of the landgraves in 1247. It lived on in Hesse. 
Hesse had been part of Thuringia up to then but was 
made a separate landgraviate, which, after many 
separations and transformations, became the present 
state of Hesse. 

When in 1920 Thuringia was revived it was not thought 
suitable to revive its historic lion also, because that 
would have resulted in the confusing situation of two 
states bearing the same arms. The solution however was 
less than satisfactory. In 1921 an artificial coat was 
made up for Thuringia containing seven (2:3:2) silver 
stars on a red field denoting the amalgamated territories 
as they had existed in 1920 (Saxe-Coburg, Saxe-
Meiningen, Saxe-Weimar-Eisenach, Saxe-Altenburg, 
Schwarzburg-Rudolstadt, Reuss, Sondershausen, and 
Schwarzburg). 

That coat was, as might be expected, not very popular. 
Therefore the National Socialists did not meet much 
opposition when in 1933 they did away with it and 
revived the old Thuringian lion, but making it clutch a 
golden swastika in its paws. However, they suppressed 
the states' rights anyway and thus the Nazi lion seldom 
appeared in public. 
It was abolished, of course, after the downfall of the 
Third Reich in 1945, and Thuringia received yet another 
shield, this time containing a golden lion on a red field 
surrounded by the stars from the 1921-1933 coat, with 
an eighth star added for the former Prussian enclaves 
that were now returned to Thuringia. 
But again, the new lion had an ephemeral life, because 
Thuringia was now occupied by the Soviets and the 
Communist regime they installed in East Germany 
suppressed the states altogether in 1952 and divided 
them up into artificial districts in order to wipe out any 
regional identities which they regarded as obstacles on 
the way to completion of the one-party state. 
When the Communist regime collapsed in 1989, the 
former states in East Germany were revived, following 
the thousand-year old federalist tradition of Germany 
which, except for the years of totalitarian rule, has 
always been composed of states with strong regional 
feelings. However, one problem remained: Since the 
Hessian lion, although of Thuringian descent, was still 
around and had, in fact, enjoyed a longer uninterrupted 
life than its Thuringian brother-lion, Thuringia could 
not simply revert to what would rightfully have been its 
very own lion pure and simple. 

Of course the Thuringian lion was revived, even with its 
golden crown (whereas the Hessian lion had, in an 
upsurge of "republican" feeling, dropped his in 1920 
after the grand-duchy had become a republic). But to 
the lion the stars were added again, thus giving the 

modern Thuringian 
arms a somewhat 
crowded look. And 
whereas both lions 
are armed gold, the 
ten stripes of the 
Hessian lion start 
with a silver stripe, 
whereas the eight 
stripes of the 
Thuringian lion start 
with red. So at 
present two German 
states do indeed use 

the same armorial beast, but sufficiently different from 
each other. And there is just another detail: while the 
Hessian lion is, discreetly but distinctly, male, the sex of 
its Thuringian relative (brother? sister?) has been 
neutralized, thus ensuring the victory of present-day 
political correctness over nature. 

The Ghost or Shadow as a Charge 
by Stephen Kibbey 

I recently acquired a booklet entitled The Ghost or 
Shadow as a Charge in Heraldry. It was a paper 
read by Hugh Stanford London to the Society of 
Antiquaries. The title intrigued me. Were there really 
ghosts in heraldry? If anyone can tell us it was surely 
the learned Hugh Stanford London, F.S.A., Norfolk 
Herald Extraordinary. The first paragraph continues the 
intrigue when we are told that the charge ought to be 
interpreted as a ghost or phantom. Where does the 
shadow come into it? Do ghosts cast shadows? 
The charge in question is termed Umbra in Latin and 
Ombre in French, but it is also known as Adumbration. 
The ombre is mentioned in nearly all the English 
treatises from the fifteenth century onwards. On the 
continent it appears from the seventeenth century. 
However, in actual use the charge was first seen in the 
Low Countries about 1275, in France about 1390, and 
England, Switzerland, Italy, and Scotland about 1411. 
Dame Julia Berners mentions it in Part III of - The Boke 
of St. Albans. There are three paragraphs which refer 
specifically to the umbra. The first paragraph mentions 
the - mylneris cros shadowyd or umbra/ted as in He 
berith of golde with a mylneris cros umbratid or 
shadowd'. In this paragraph it is said that the shadow is 
to be black regardless of the colour of the field. The 
second paragraph deals with the cros floree patent 
umbratid. "He berith of gowles and a cross patent flore 
umbratyd". The author remarks that the cross is not 


